
 
ZBA Meeting Minutes 

March 23, 2017 
 

The March 2017 meeting of the ZBA was held on Thursday, March 23, beginning at 5:32 pm. 
Pledge of allegiance was recited, and Chairman Arcaro asked for role call. Present were Mr. 
Arcaro, Mrs. Sherman, Mrs. Gates, Mr. Naylor, Mr. KcKenna.  Also present Mr. Kyle Smith, 
State Law Director.  
 
The March 9, 2017 minutes stated Mr. McKenna was absent.  Mr. Naylor added the 
correction that Mr. McKenna was not absent, however Mr. Arcaro added it is in the minutes 
in the lower part of the section.  Mrs. Gates made the motion to approve March 9, 2017 
minutes, Mr. Naylor second the motion.  Melanie Shubitowski called roll, all were present 
and the motion carried. There is no old business. 
 

I. Case #04-2017, O’Reilly Auto Parts is seeking variance to build a new store on the 
corner of State and Buffalo St. on the South side of the road.  This is Zoned a B-3 
District.  CT Consultants are the engineers and O’Reilly’s Improvement Plans have 
been submitted. They are looking for a 20-foot building setback when abutting a 
residential property; The plans show a setback of 18.66 feet.  There is a minimum 20-
foot wide landscaped area to screen building when abutting a residential property; 
The plan shows a width of 18.66 feet.  The landscaped are is to be planted with 
evergreen hedge; The plan shows landscaping to consist primarily of dogwood, which 
will not provide the dense year-round screening required.  Maximum width of the 
driveway; The plan shows four driveways – one each along State Street and Monroe 
Street, and two along Buffalo Street to be approximately 20 feet from the intersection 
with State Street, which is less than the 75 feet required.  There are a minimum 
number of parking spaces; The plan shows only 31 parking spaces when the Code 
requires at least 62.  Minimum number of loading spaces; The plan does not show a 
dedicated loading area.   Mr. Arcaro asked if there was anyone representing O’Reilly’s 
Auto Parts- Mr. David Pietraman stood up and was sworn in by Mr. Arcaro.   Mr. 
Pietraman provided a larger site plan and explained the building setbacks, drive 
entrances and parking spaces.  Mr. Arcaro inquired about the privacy hedge and 
planting dogwood.  Mr. Peitraman answer was inaudible.  Mr. Arcaro inquired about 
the loading area and requested Mr. Pietraman come closer for the ZBA to see the site 
plan.  Mr. Pietraman replied the trucks will be backing in from Buffalo Street.  Mr. 
Naylor asked what size of trucks – semis?  Mr. Pietraman answered Yes.  Mrs. 
Sherman asked if O’Reilly’s takes into consideration all the cars parked along Buffalo 
on the east side of the road for the trucks to back in? Mr. Pietraman answered Yes.  
Mr. Arcaro asked when you say semi’s do you mean tractor trailer or?  Mr. Pietraman 
answered Yes.  Mr. Naylor asked 55’ foot trailers? 53’ foot trailers?  Mr. Pietraman 
answered “I think they are 45’ foot.  Mrs. Gates asked if there is enough room for a 



turning radius.  Mr. Pietraman answered we have run through the turning radius’s and 
it fits.  Mr. Arcaro – one of the issues I see right off the bat is and I don’t know if it has 
been addressed yet or not?  Maybe Kyle can answer this based on where the Planning 
Commission is with this but there was some talk about the ingress and egress off of 
State Street – traffic going to the west a left turn out of there?  Has that been 
addressed?  Mr. Pietraman replied – I know there was a comment in the letter from 
the City Engineer that traffic studies you have right now do not show and issue but 
there may be an issue in the future- they did bring that up.  Kyle Smith replied:  I 
might add Mr. Chairman there are two types of variances one for the zoning issues 
and the one for more the planning issues so what you will be dealing here tonight are 
just the zoning issues.  Mr. Arcaro replied: OK.  Mr. Kyle Smith added the Planning 
Commission will be dealing with their own variances probably at their next planning 
meeting, if that helps.  Mr. Arcaro replied:  it does.  Mr. Arcaro asked if anyone has 
any more questions?  Mr. Naylor asked Kyle should we be concerned with the 
driveway or is the planning commission going to do that?  Kyle replied: The issues 
before the Zoning Board are the Zoning issues, so I am not familiar with your zoning 
code but you will have to look at your code to look at the width of the driveway but 
there are other parts of the Zoning Code that are in that so the things I saw in your 
code are the setbacks, the vegetation, the screening and I’m not sure what else is in 
there.  The board decided the width of the driveway is not Zoning.  The board asked 
when deliveries are made – Mr. Pietraman replied early in the morning.  Kyle asked 
Mr. Pietraman to describe more in detail why O’Reilly’s cannot meet the building 
setback.  Mr. Pietraman replied because we had the site all set in meeting all the 
requirements and then we were asked to add more to the front of the building which 
is what lengthened the building itself.  Kyle asked who asked you to do that?  Mr. 
Pietraman replied that was thru the City Manager’s office asking us to add additional 
facing to the building and Kyle confirmed what Mr. Pietraman said.  Melanie 
Shubitowski added that O’Reilly’s had submitted two types of plans – one with the 
split block masonry and one with a metal building.  Our department felt that this one 
was a better fit for the City as far as aesthetics.  Kyle asked if Melanie was sworn in – 
she replied no and Mr. Arcaro swore Melanie Shubitowski and Janet Brown in.  Kyle 
asked Melanie to repeat the above statement after she was sworn in:  Melanie stated 
that the City requested the split block masonry frontage to fit the aesthetics of the 
City better and they submitted to renderings one of metal building and one of split 
block fascia, so what they did is they had the metal block building and then they are 
adding the split block fascia to the exterior of the building to meet our requests for 
the aesthetics.  Mr. Arcaro replied to Mr. Pietraman – so that pushed you over the 
setback requirement?  Mr. Pietraman replied : correct we have gone as far as we can 
go toward Buffalo- we can’t go any further up. It’s either loose the split block or deal 
with the setback.  Mr. Kyle Smith added:  Have you also requested a variance from the 
Evergreen shrubbery to the Dogwood?  Would you like to explain?  Mr. Pietraman 
replied:  We had a landscape plan put together and the landscape architect thought 
that was a better fit and I apologize I am not up on the landscaping portion of it.   Kyle 
replied:  for the aesthetics?  Mr. Pietraman replied:  Correct.  Mr. Naylor asked are 



they behind the building?  Mr. Pietraman replied: Correct.  Mr. Arcaro replied:  that is 
going to be the privacy fence in this area right here as Mr. Pietraman held up his large 
site plan and the ZBA members asked if there was going to be a fence?  Mr. Pietraman 
replied there are no plans for a fence.  Mrs. Dawn Gates asked if they can put up a 
fence?  Mr. Pietraman replied they did not have plans to do it but if the green hedge is 
an issue, I’m sure we could address that.  Mrs. Gates is asking for a fence from Monroe 
St. North all the way West behind the garage and L shape vinyl privacy fence.  Mr. 
Arcaro asked Melanie Shubitowski if there is a required setback for the detention 
basin?  Mrs. Shubitowski replied:  No, not to my knowledge.  Mr. Arcaro asked if the 
spaces down behind are parking spaces for employees?  Mr. Pietraman replied:  Yes 
parking for employees.  Mr. Arcaro replied all public is in the front?  Mr. Pietraman 
replied:  Yes.  Mr. Arcaro asked if there were any other questions.  There were no 
more questions.  

II.  Mr. Arcaro addressed the audience and swore in all guests that were going to speak:  
Joe Ericksen,  John Burress,  Steve Barrett,  Richard Renn,  Beth Renn,  Rick Maki,  Joe 
Simak,  Jeremy Simak.   Mr. Arcaro started with Mrs. Beth Renn 

III. Mrs. Beth Renn comments:  I am here in regards to the O’Reilly’s variances that are 
into question.  I would like to start with Ordinance No. 1137.08 procedure for 
variances which read:  Please see attached script provided by Mrs. Renn.  – After her 
conclusion she went on say she is very concerned with the definition of abutting 
because of the churches.  There is on located on the corner of State and Buffalo St.  
There is on located on Buffalo and Monroe St.  Both of them are very busy churches – 
The United Church of Christ located on Buffalo and Monroe – they have something 
every night of the week, plus their church on Sunday.  Arlene’s Buffalo on Broadway 
they have practice 5 nights a week when they are doing a play.  When they have a play 
going on the weekends you can literally not get a parking spot.  My neighbors are here 
and they will testify to that.  They…people park everywhere.  People’s cars have been 
hit because of the parking.  My son’s car included.  I do not believe under any 
circumstances this is the best thing we can come up with.  I don’t believe it belongs on 
that corner where in a preservation district.  If you will allow 19 variances for one (1) 
company they are probably not done – far from done.  Then you have to allow the 
same for anyone else who asks.  Do you want to set the precedence that we are 
known as the City who allows variances for everything?  If that’s it – then why have a 
Zoning Code?  Just allow people what they want.  We are bound by the preservation 
codes, and what color we can paint our house, what we can add to our house, a 
number of things that are special to that district.  Being bound by these and then 
allowing a company to come in and just ignore it all is not in the best interest of those 
of us who live there nor is it fair, and dually to number of people behind me that want 
to speak, I honestly believe that all of this is due to their own doing.  He has readily 
admitted that they have made the building wider.  They could have easily made the 
building the requested block front and the block size by taking out two (2) blocks.  
Take out twelve inches (12”) on each side would have brought them two feet (2’) back 
where they belong.  They have refused to change the size of the building to stay 
within the required variances.  But even as such they have refused to change it, it is 



still based on their own design – you have to deny it.  There is no other option and 
that’s about all I have to say… Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. Richard Renn 

IV. Mr. Richard Renn comments:  I of course oppose all of these variances, why…because I 
own the property owner next door.  I would like you to know I never-ever intended to 
sell my property to O’Reilly’s.  Some of the problems we do have on these variances 
and I think you brought up the dumpster (Mr. Naylor).  I’m glad you brought that up 
because it is right outside my bedroom window on the property, and it’s also in a zone 
that there is not supposed to be anything.  Like I say to me that cuts down, if you put 
the trees and that in there once they start growing, what are you going to have in 
there?  You’re going to have a big mess.  I have lilacs sitting there on the property line 
that are eighty (80) to a hundred (100) years old.  Everything that they are looking to 
do on the property line with the flower beds and everything are just looking to 
destroy it.  With all the root systems coming across and then it’s bring everything on 
me to keep the maintenance on the property.  Where my garage sits they are planning 
on bringing the shrubbery so close to the garage I’m not going to be able to work on it.  
None of this is going to give me any privacy nor for my friends, there is going to be no 
sound barrier, I’m going to have to put up with all their stuff and listen to all the 
people come in and out.  I have a pool in my back yard, I’d like to see a ten foot (10’) 
high fence there or on the north side of my property, just so they can’t watch my 
grandchildren get in and out of the pool, because the shrubbery they are offering is 
not going to offer any protection for our privacy, none what so ever.  The lighting plan 
that they have, they want to leave the lights on until midnight.  My (8) year old 
granddaughter’s bedroom is right there and if they are leaving the lights on till 
midnight- how do I get her to sleep? Without a spending cost of blackout curtains and 
all that stuff?  I guess what I am saying is on their website they are saying they need 
30 to 35,000 SQ FT to put up the building to do their job.  What they purchased was 
27,000 SQ FT, so in layman’s terms they are trying to put 10 pounds of you know what 
in a 5 pound bag.  Moving that one drive way access point going up toward State St. 
that is a dangerous idea, I know people right now, you got people coming out of 
McDonalds, you got the stop light, and people are just cutting right thru there. There 
are accidents all the time there, I can’t tell you how many but there a lot of accidents, 
like my wife said there are car parts laying in the tree lawn right now.  What happens 
if someone is coming out of there and something happens to their vehicle and he 
shoots across the road and there are people standing there waiting to go to church?  
What are we looking at then?  We have some serious parking issues over there that I 
can’t bring up to you guys right now but I mean it’s a bad scenario.  I really oppose 
every one of these variances that thy are asking for.  Like I said just looking at the 
plans we come up with nineteen (19) variances.  How many more are there going to 
be?  How many are there that we have not found yet?  I don’t know- but I am going to 
leave it at that and let somebody else talk.  Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. Joe 
Simak 

V. Mr. Joe Simak comments:  To me it is a no brainer for the jobs it is going to create, 
local jobs, tax revenue for the City and cosmetically I think it will improve that corner.  
That’s all I have.  Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. Jeremy Simak 



VI. Mr. Jeremy Simaks comments:  First off I love the City of Conneaut, I have lived here 
most of my life and this town looks like a ghost town now because so many businesses 
have left and we need new businesses to come in here at that is what O’Reilly’s wants 
to do.  They are a reputable company and a fortune 500 company that want to invest 
in Conneaut, We need this and they will hire locally.  I’m the owner of 247 Buffalo St 
and I know my house needs a lot of repairs as does the other 3 homes and don’t 
believe mine is the worse.  Just like Beth Renn was saying they are preserved but 
when she was negotiating with Simon CRE she didn’t care about the houses then and I 
hope you can see through that, when she didn’t get the money she was asking for.  It’s 
big for Conneaut to have another company come in here.  If we don’t give them this 
property then they probably won’t stay in Conneaut.  That’s all I have to say.  Thank 
you.  Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. Steve Barrett 

VII. Mr. Steve Barretts comments:  I live right next door to the Renn’s and I agree with 
them on a number of things.  Primarily safety reasons – traffic will be increased there 
and there are a number of kids on that street, like he said when they are having there 
play on Buffalo Street there are cars parked all along there and they are not far from 
my driveway and I can’t imagine what it is going to do to that business?  Is that going 
to wipe out that business too?  I think the safety of bringing all these trucks in – I don’t 
care what time of day it is – it’s not going to be safe and I think there will be problems 
with the Fire Department.  What if there is an emergency and you have trucks coming 
in and out?  How is that going to hinder them?  I agree with the Ren’s on what they 
are trying to say and trying to do.  That’s all I can say.  Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called 
up Mr. Richard Maki 

VIII. Mr. Richard Maki comments:  My concern is how are they going to get trucks in and 
out of there?  With no loading area it seems to me it is going to create a big issue 
trying to get them to turn in and out of there in a driveway and parking lot that size 
and dedicated loading area.  I am all for people coming to town and vesting money 
but it’s just like they said – they did not buy enough property and some of the 
variances they are asking for are because of their own doing. That’s pretty much all 
my concerns – the Ren’s pretty much covered it.  Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. 
Joe Ericksen 

IX. Mr. Joe Ericksen comments:  I apologize – I did not come to speak – I came to listen.  
Mr. Arcaro called up Mr. Joe Burroughs 

X. Mr. Joe Burroughs comments:  Yes the Ren’s covered most of the stuff – my main 
concern is the driveway on Monroe Street – I live on Monroe Street and our street is 
nineteen feet (19’) wide exactly – snow gets in there and narrows it down.  There used 
to be No Parking signs on both sides of Monroe Street and now they are gone and 
don’t know why? My daughter & I have both hit vehicles trying to back out of our 
driveway.  A friend of mine hit a car parked on the street – there is just not enough 
room there to bring in semi’s or even trucks a little smaller with all the parking issues 
in that area.  Safety concerns with kids up and down that street and we don’t need a 
kid hit.  That’s all I have. Thank you.  Mr. Arcaro called Mr. Petriman back up 



XI. Mr. Petriman comments:  I know Jim Hockaday is not here and he actually seen the 
counter offer from the Ren’s what they wanted for the house. They did intend to sell 
their house. 
Mr. Arcaro asked the board if they had any other questions for Mr. Petriman – no 
questions – Mr. Arcaro asked the hours of operation.  Mr. Petriman believed it was 
9am – 7 pm – seven (7) days a week.  Mrs. Gates found the hours online and stated 
they are open 7:30 am – 10:00 pm seven (7) days a week.  Mr. Petriman could not 
confirm or deny because he was not sure of the hours of operations. 
Mr. Kyle Smith had a question for Melanie Shubitowski and Mr. Petriman asking if 
either one has made any determinations on any of the variances that would advertly 
affect the delivery of governmental services – water, sewer, garbage, police, fire? Mr. 
Petriman replied – we have no intentions on blocking the streets so it should not be 
an issue.  Melanie replied: No – I have not. 
Mr. Arcaro asked if the sale of these properties were closed.  Audience members 
replied they are still under contract. 
Mr. Arcaro asked for a motion to adjourn into Executive Session given by Mrs. Dawn 
Gates and Second by Mrs. Dolly Sherman.  Meeting adjourned at 7:30 pm. 
 
 
 
 
_________________________   __________________________ 
Patrick Arcaro, Chairman    Melanie Shubitowski, Clerk 


